

2023 Lead Covered Agency NGDA Theme Annual Performance Report and Self-Assessment

for Soils Theme

Geospatial Data Act of 2018 Section USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(3) Requirements

January 19, 2024



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	i
Introduction	1
Executive Summary	1
Official Theme Related Information	2
NGDA Theme Points of Contact	2
NGDA Theme Datasets	3
Meeting General Responsibilities – USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(2)	4
Managing Theme-Related Content on GeoPlatform	4
Soils Theme Progress Toward Meeting Requirements	5
Background	5
A. Geospatial Data Standards	5
B. Nationwide Population of the Data Theme	6
C. Establish Goals That Support the NSDI Strategic Plan	9
D. Addressing User Needs	10
FGDC Portfolio-Level Progress Toward Meeting GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements	11
Background	11
A. Geospatial Data Standards	11
B. Nationwide Population of NGDA Datasets	11
C. Establish Goals That Support the NSDI Strategic Plan	12
D. Addressing User Needs	12
Appendix A: Survey Picklist	13
Appendix B: Brief Summary	14
Endnotes	15

Introduction

The Geospatial Data Act of 2018 (GDA) was signed into law on October 5, 2018. The GDA was included as a component of the FAA Reauthorization Act (H.R. 302, P.L. 115-254). The GDA is now in <u>U.S. Code, Title 43 – Public Lands, Chapter 46: GEOSPATIAL DATA</u>.¹

The GDA Section 2805(b)(3)(E)(I) requires annual performance reports to be submitted to the Federal Geographic Data Committee (FGDC) that document "the activities relating to and implementation of the National Geospatial Data Asset [NGDA] data theme, including progress in achieving the requirements under subparagraphs (A), (B), (C), and (D)" of Section 2805(b)(3).

This Lead Covered Agency NGDA Theme Annual Performance Report (LCA NGDA Theme Report) covers the Fiscal Year 2023 (FY2023), October 1, 2022 through September 30, 2023. The report provides an update on progress made at the NGDA Portfolio and FGDC agency level in support of meeting GDA requirements. This is the fourth annual report which is based on a template and survey to facilitate consistency across the FGDC NGDA Themes. As per the GDA, a summary and evaluation of the progress to achieve the requirements will be generated by FGDC and will be provided to the National Geospatial Advisory Committee (NGAC) for comment. The FGDC summary is required to include a rating for each responsibility of "meets expectations," "made progress toward expectations," or "fails to meet expectations." These ratings are included in this report and are used to generate part of the annual FGDC Summary Report. The summary report along with NGAC comments are included in the biennial FGDC Report to Congress. This and other required reports and information are available online via the FGDC GDA pages.²

The FY2023 LCA NGDA Theme annual report continues to use the GDA definition for NGDA data theme as the foundation for reporting compliance *for the data within the theme*. From the GDA definitions, NGDA data theme "means the NGDA core geospatial datasets (including electronic records and coordinates) relating to a topic or subject designated under Section 2805."

Executive Summary

This fourth annual FGDC NGDA Theme report provides insights into cross-cutting FGDC portfolio-level activities and theme-specific agency-level activities that will document progress in meeting GDA requirements.

At the theme level, this report provides updates to summaries and information for ongoing processes, procedures, and actions within agencies that manage NGDA datasets, that were provided in previous annual reports.

At the portfolio level, this report highlights continued efforts across the FGDC agencies and the NGDA themes to evaluate the requirements of the GDA in the context of the goals and objectives of the National Spatial Data Infrastructure (NSDI) Strategic Plan.³ Based on an emerging cross-agency understanding of these requirements, the FGDC NGDA Theme community is undertaking efforts to establish governance processes that build on accomplishments, provide value, and ensure efficiency. In alignment with GDA requirements, the NGDA Theme Leads developed an NGDA Theme Strategic Plan template which was approved by the FGDC Steering Committee in July 2023. The template can be tailored to each theme with goals and objectives that are cross walked with all GDA requirements and the NSDI Strategic Plan. This template provides flexibility and allows agencies that manage NGDA data to

identify actions and accomplishments that align with the established goals, objectives, and anticipated outcomes, while being sensitive to technological, economic, and organizational constraints and opportunities of the agencies managing NGDA data. NGDA Theme Leads will develop and finalize their individual theme strategic plans by the end of FY2024.

The efforts documented in this report reflect that all FGDC NGDA Themes are making progress towards meeting GDA requirements.

Official Theme Related Information

As per the OMB Circular A-16 Supplemental Guidance (A-16 Guidance), official theme related information includes designated points of contact for NGDA Portfolio management, including Theme Leads and Executive Champions, and the official list of NGDA datasets. As further described in the sections below, this information is maintained on the <u>GeoPlatform</u>⁴ <u>NGDA Portfolio Community</u>⁵ site.

NGDA Theme Points of Contact

Reference: <u>USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(3)(E)(i)</u>

Section 2805(b)(3)(E)(i) requires lead covered agencies to "designate a point of contact within the lead covered agency who shall be responsible for developing, maintaining, coordination relating to, and disseminating data using the GeoPlatform" as part of administering the NGDA theme.

In accordance with the A-16 Guidance, NGDA theme personnel play an ongoing, vital role in the operation and maintenance of a theme. They are individuals who provide interdepartmental leadership and coordination at the NGDA theme level and work with NGDA dataset managers to facilitate portfolio development including activities associated with standards and guidance, among other things.

Traditionally, these roles have been coordinated through lead covered agencies with the FGDC Office of the Secretariat and the NGDA theme lead assuming a majority of NGDA theme responsibilities. Transitioning to meet specific GDA responsibilities provides opportunities for lead covered agencies to designate specific points of contact to coordinate an expanding portfolio of datasets across the NGDA theme and for greater dissemination of data through the GeoPlatform.

Theme and agency points of contact provided in Table 1 below are maintained to meet requirements from the <u>A-16 Supplemental Guidance Roles and Responsibilities</u>. ⁶ This information is kept up-to-date in the <u>NGDA Portfolio Community</u>. From the NGDA Portfolio Community page, the NGDA Theme Leads and NGDA Theme Executive Champions lists are found on the <u>Contacts</u>⁷ page.

Soils Theme Contacts	
Theme Lead(s):	Stephen Roecker, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service
Executive Theme Champion(s):	Ron Sequeira, U.S. Department of Agriculture

Table 1. Theme and Lead Covered Agency Points of Contact Involved in Theme Management.

NGDA Theme Datasets

The NGDA datasets and the agencies listed in Table 2 are provided as the official list of NGDA that currently populate the Soils Theme. If the theme includes NGDA datasets managed by non-covered agencies, they are shown in bold. Support for GDA requirements by these non-covered agencies is very important to the success of the themes. The official list of NGDA Portfolio Datasets is maintained on the GeoPlatform in the NGDA Portfolio Community. Each NGDA dataset also has a unique value assigned, called an NGDAID, that allows the dataset to be tracked throughout its lifecycle.

NGDAID	Soils Theme NGDA Datasets	Agency
137	Major Land Resource Areas (MLRA)	U.S. Department of Agriculture,
		Natural Resources Conservation Service
138	Soil Survey Geographic Database (SSURGO)	U.S. Department of Agriculture,
		Natural Resources Conservation Service
139	U.S. General Soil Map (STATSGO2)	U.S. Department of Agriculture,
		Natural Resources Conservation Service
140	NCSS Soil Characterization Database	U.S. Department of Agriculture,
		Natural Resources Conservation Service
193	Gridded Soil Survey Geographic (gSSURGO-30)	U.S. Department of Agriculture,
	Database for the Conterminous United States -	Natural Resources Conservation Service
	30 meter	

Table 2. NGDA Theme Datasets.

Meeting General Responsibilities – USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(2)

Reference: USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(2)

How is the Lead Covered Agency(ies) participating in ensuring the coordinated management of the Theme? (Select all that apply - see Appendix A for the complete list of optional responses)

- Agency participated in cross-agency activities related to the development of the Theme Strategic Plan Template
- Theme Executive Champion(s) attend NGDA Theme Community Meetings
- Theme Lead(s) attend NGDA Theme Community Meetings
- Theme Lead(s) participate in GDA Working Group meetings
- Theme Leads(s) review the outcomes from GDA Working Group meetings and provide feedback on approaches for GDA compliance
- Theme Lead(s) coordinate GDA compliance activities with Theme personnel
- Theme Lead(s) coordinate changes to the Portfolio inventory for Steering Committee approval
- Theme Lead(s) coordinate Theme Hub Sites on the GeoPlatform with established points of contact (e.g., Site Maintainers, site editors)
- Theme Lead(s) update Dataset Managers and other points of contact (e.g., metadata POC)
- Theme Lead(s) evaluate standards applicable to the Portfolio inventory
- Theme Lead(s) communicate new and ongoing Portfolio Management activities and priorities with Dataset Managers in the Theme
- Steering Committee members coordinate with the Theme

Managing Theme-Related Content on GeoPlatform

During FY2023, the NGDA Themes transitioned from legacy GeoPlatform Theme sites to new <u>Hub-based Theme sites</u>. As part of the transition, the themes established by consensus, the minimum required site content. All eighteen themes were transitioned and updated to reflect this minimum content requirement. Individual themes have the flexibility to publicly display and manage additional information from a variety of sources related to their theme. The new Hub sites provide end users, stakeholders, and partners with a place to find consistent theme-related information and access to NGDA datasets and services.

Soils Theme Progress Toward Meeting Requirements

Background

This section provides Theme-related updates to information provided in previous annual reports and designates the Lead Covered Agency self-assessment for each of the four GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements.

A. Geospatial Data Standards

The following table describes the GDA requirements for Section 2805(b)(3)(A) pertaining to geospatial data standards, and the Lead Covered Agency's self-assessment for meeting those requirements.

GDA Requirement	USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(3)(A) – Provide leadership and facilitate the development and implementation of geospatial data standards for the National Geospatial Data Asset data theme, with a particular emphasis on a data content standard for the National Geospatial Data Asset data theme, including by—
	 i. assessing existing standards; ii. identifying anticipated or needed data standards; and iii. developing a plan to originate and implement needed standards with relevant community and international practices— I. in accordance with Office of Management and Budget Circular A– 119, or any successor thereto; and II. consistent with or as a part of the plan described in subparagraph (B);
Lead Covered Agency Self-Assessment	Made Progress Toward Expectations

Note: The lead covered agency reports that no change was made to the self-assessment for this requirement from the prior year. FGDC efforts to address Sec 2805(b)(3)(A) are summarized under the "FGDC Portfolio-Level Progress Toward Meeting GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements" section below.

B. Nationwide Population of the Data Theme

The following table describes the GDA requirements for Section 2805(b)(3)(B) pertaining to a plan for nationwide population of the data theme, and the Lead Covered Agency's self-assessment for meeting those requirements.

GDA Requirement	USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(3)(B) – provide leadership and facilitate the development and implementation of a plan for nationwide population of the National Geospatial Data Asset data theme, which shall—
	(i) include developing partnership programs with States, Indian tribes, institutions of higher education, private sector entities, other Federal agencies, and local governments; (ii) meet the needs of users of geospatial data;
	 (iii) address human and financial resource needs; (iv) identify needs relating to standards, metadata for geospatial data within the National Geospatial Data Asset data theme, and the GeoPlatform; and (v) expedite the development of necessary National Geospatial Data Asset data themes;
Lead Covered Agency Self-Assessment	Made Progress Toward Expectations

FGDC Agency Efforts to Support Plans for Nationwide Population of NGDA Datasets

This section provides summary updates on NGDA Theme agency-level activities and efforts to support plans for nationwide population of NGDA Datasets. FGDC efforts to address Sec 2805(b)(3)(B) are summarized under the "FGDC Portfolio-Level Progress Toward Meeting GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements" section below.

Brief Summary

The following is a brief update and description as to how and why the agency's self-assessment changed in FY2023 addressing Section 2805(b)(3)(B). (Limit 5,000 characters, or approximately 1.5 pages)

Clarifying Text: The summary includes agency, sub-agency, or bureau-level progress and accomplishments associated with any new key activities, and those highlighted last year, including citations and resource links as necessary. Key activities that support nationwide population of NGDA datasets within the Theme include:

- existing or planned partnership programs with a wide range of stakeholders supporting NGDA datasets within the Theme
- ✓ processes, or plans for processes, in place to meet the needs of users. Note that Section D of this report also covers efforts to collect and analyze user needs and incorporation of those needs into agency strategies.
- existing or planned program and data management plans in place that address human and financial resource needs
- ✓ processes, or plans for processes, in place to identify needs related to standards

✓ any other processes in place that support nationwide population of datasets (e.g., data quality control processes that cover data collected by external stakeholders)

The Soil and Plant Sciences Division (SPSD) regularly partners with several agencies via what is referred to as the Federal Lands Advisory Group (FLAG). This group supports the development of the Soil Themes NDGAs, particularly SSURGO. The agencies involved with FLAG include the SPSD, Bureau of Land Management (BLM), National Park Service (NPS), U.S. Forest Service (USFS), U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBR), Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), and Agricultural Research Service (ARS). During fiscal year 2023 (FY2023), FLAG met in Tucson, Arizona, and convened at the National Cooperative Soil Survey Conference in Bismarck, North Dakota. During FY2023, the SPSD was actively engaged in 16 agreements with the BLM, NPS, and USFS to develop new Soil Survey Geographic Database (SSURGO) data.

Internationally, the SPSD participated in the Global Soil Partnership (GSP), which is an organization hosted by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations (UN). Last year the GSP hosted the 8th Working Session of the International Network for Soil Information Institutions (INSII) and training sessions for the Global Soil Nutrient (GSN) Initiative. SPSD staff participated in both events and contributed to their new GSN guidelines. GSN maps are expected to be ready for submission to the Global Soil Information System (GLOSIS) in 2024.

Another example of international cooperation includes the SPSD Kellog Soil Survey Laboratory's (KSSL) involvement in GSP's soil spectral calibration project. KSSL provided 60 diverse samples and reference data for distribution in an interlaboratory ring trial to soil spectroscopy facilities worldwide for a mid-infrared (MIR) data comparison analysis research project.

Lastly, in FY2023, SPSD staff collaborated with New Mexico State University (NMSU) and West Viriginia University (WVU) to create the Soil Landscapes of the United States (SOLUS) dataset. SOLUS is a new series of soil property raster maps designed to provide a complete, consistent, and current inventory of soil properties for the United States that can be updated annually to include improvements in data availability and modeling methods. It includes 20 continuous soil property maps predicted at 7 depths with uncertainty and accuracy estimates for the contiguous United States. SOLUS has already gone through an internal review and are expected to be published shortly.

To meet the needs of soil geospatial data users, the SPSD undertook the following activities in FY2023.

- a. Refreshed SSURGO on October 1, 2023, which included:
 - i. 55.6 million acres of new mapping,
 - ii. 16 million acres of updated mapping,
 - iii. 243,851 acres of coastal mapping, and
 - iv. 91,942 acres of urban mapping.
- b. Published 526 new pedons to the National Cooperative Soil Survey Soil Characterization Database (NCSS-SCD).
- c. Released the new applications SSURGO Portal and SSURGO On Demand to provide faster access to SSURGO data and improved interoperability.
- d. Released a new SQLite file format of the NCSS-SCD and added the NCSS-SCD data to the SPSD's existing web application programming interface (API), Soil Data Access.
- e. Added 31 new videos to YouTube.

- f. Recorded 45,122 hours and 28,618 instances of Technical Soil Services supporting the use and interpretation of geospatial data.
- g. Released drafts of the new SOLUS soil property grids.

To address the human resource needs of the Soils Theme, the SPSD has tasked several staff from its Soil Business Systems (SBS) Branch to address Theme oversite. This past year several positions were refilled within the SBS that directly oversee several aspects of the Theme's activities, including two new NGDA dataset managers and one editor for the Soils Theme Hub site. The SPSD SBS is currently updating its Handbook in order to specify GDA procedures and responsibilities by office. The backlog of work is large and will require a significant commitment from several SPSD staff and other federal partners. There has been significant turnover within the SPSD during the last several years, which has resulted in a loss of institutional knowledge.

To address the needs relating to metadata, the SPSD recently solicited feedback on a proposal to delist gSSURGO from the list of Soil Theme NGDAs. gSSURGO is an alternative format of SSURGO where the MUPOLYGON layer has been rasterized. If a user were to query both formats, they would get the same soil data. For this reason, a separate FGDC NGDA record for gSSURGO is redundant. In FY2024, the proposal to delist gSSURGO as an NGDA will be forwarded to the National Leader for Soil Survey Standards.

To expediate the development of the Soils Theme NGDA Assets, the SPSD developed the Soils2026 National Instruction (NI). This initiative has been ongoing since 2018, and in FY2023, the SPSD completed 55.6 million acres of new mapping, which was incorporated into SSURGO as part of its ASR. The Soils2026 work will continue with the goal of finishing Nationwide coverage of SSURGO by 2026.

C. Establish Goals That Support the NSDI Strategic Plan

The following table describes the GDA requirements for Section 2805(b)(3)(C) pertaining to establishing goals that support the NSDI Strategic Plan, and the Lead Covered Agency's self-assessment for meeting those requirements.

GDA Requirement	USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(3)(C) — establish goals that support the strategic plan for the National Spatial Data Infrastructure prepared under section 2804(c);
Lead Covered Agency Self-Assessment	Made Progress Toward Expectations

References: NSDI Strategic Plan 2021-2024

Note: The lead covered agency reports that no change was made to the self-assessment for this requirement from the prior year. FGDC efforts to address Sec 2805(b)(3)(C) are summarized under the "FGDC Portfolio-Level Progress Toward Meeting GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements" section below.

D. Addressing User Needs

The following table describes the GDA requirements for Section 2805(b)(3)(D) pertaining to addressing user needs, and the Lead Covered Agency's self-assessment for meeting those requirements.

GDA Requirement	USC 43 Sec 2805(b)(3)(D) – as necessary, collect and analyze information
	from users of geospatial data within the National Geospatial Data Asset
	data theme regarding the needs of the users for geospatial data and
	incorporate the needs of users in strategies relating to the National
	Geospatial Data Asset data theme;
Lead Covered Agency	
Self-Assessment	Made Progress Toward Expectations

FGDC Agency Efforts to Support Addressing User Needs

This section provides summary updates on NGDA Theme agency-level activities and efforts to support addressing user needs. FGDC efforts to address Sec 2805(b)(3)(D) are summarized under the "FGDC Portfolio-Level Progress Toward Meeting GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements" section below.

Brief Summary

The following is a brief update and description as to how and why the agency's self-assessment changed in FY2023 addressing Section 2805(b)(3)(D). (Limit 5,000 characters, or approximately 1.5 pages)

Clarifying Text: The summary includes agency, sub-agency, or bureau-level progress and accomplishments associated with any new key activities, and those highlighted last year, including citations and resource links as necessary. Key activities that support incorporating user needs into strategies related to the NGDA datasets within the Theme include, processes that as necessary:

- ✓ collect and analyze the needs of users
- ✓ incorporate those needs of users into strategies relating to the NGDA datasets

The following is a summary of the information collected by the SPSD to analyze patterns in data usage. These numbers represent an overall increase from the previous year. The ranking of the most popular WSS reports was largely unchanged.

- Top 9 WSS Reports: Engineering Properties (59,333), Map Unit Description (38,687), Physical Soil Properties (32,446), Soil Features (19,661), Hydric Soil List (17,490), Forestland Productivity (14,250), Water Features (13,165), Hydrologic Soil Group (13,133), and Chemical Soil Properties (13,092).
- Top 10 WSS Ratings: Hydrologic Soil Group (157,065), Hydric Rating (80,020), Farmland Classification (80,393), Depth to Water Table (60,675), Non-irrigated Capability Class (48,269), pH (44,875), Drainage Class (43,265), Dwellings with Basements (40,712), Dwellings without Basements (33,225), and Percent Clay (31,513).
- The number of SDA usage instances increased from ~ 62 million in FY2022 to ~ 97 million in FY2023.
- The number of Statewide, Territory and Continental file geodatabases downloads were inadvertently deleted. So, no information is available.

FGDC Portfolio-Level Progress Toward Meeting GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements

Background

This section highlights the actions that reflect FGDC Portfolio-level progress towards meeting GDA requirements.

Since the passage of the GDA, FGDC agencies and the Theme Leads have continued to evaluate options to consistently document progress and streamline reporting. In alignment with GDA requirements, the NGDA themes completed development of an NGDA Theme Strategic Plan template in June 2023, based on an existing strategic plan developed for the Transportation Theme. The template was approved by the FGDC Steering Committee for use by all themes on June 30, 2023, and a timeline for completion by the end of FY2024 was established. The template provides a consistent framework for agencies to develop goals, objectives, and actions that directly align with GDA requirements. Theme annual reports will highlight agency actions and accomplishments associated with the strategic plan in support of standards, nationwide population of NGDA datasets, strategic planning that aligns with the NSDI Strategic Plan and other guidance, and meeting user needs. Additional details for each of the four GDA NGDA Data Theme Requirements are included below.

A. Geospatial Data Standards

The FGDC is the lead entity in the executive branch of government for the development, implementation, and review of policies, practices, and standards relating to geospatial data. The GDA describes responsibilities related to geospatial standards for the FGDC and the agencies covered by the law (covered agencies). These responsibilities are reinforced by Office of Management and Budget Circular A-16 and OMB Circular A-119 (development and use of voluntary consensus standards).

The FGDC Executive Committee has established a Standards Task Team to evaluate the requirements, options, processes, resources, and decision structure required to establish an operational and sustainable FGDC standards process. This will include evaluating the FGDC's roles and responsibilities in geospatial standards with those of other standards making bodies, non-Federal participation, and considerations for standards supporting the National Spatial Data Infrastructure (NSDI).

The Executive Committee Standards Task Team is currently developing recommendations to update the FGDC's standards management process and will recommend a path forward for the FGDC. Refer to the FGDC Standards webpage (https://www.fgdc.gov/standards) for additional information.

B. Nationwide Population of NGDA Datasets

This section of the GDA calls on the FGDC agencies to "provide leadership and facilitate the development and implementation of a plan for nationwide population of the National Geospatial Data Asset data theme." FGDC agencies evaluate and manage NGDA core datasets and other geospatial data to meet mission requirements and to address priority needs of the agency and the nation. The approved strategic plan template incorporates ongoing agency efforts to establish partnerships, conduct requirements and user needs analysis, identify options for appropriate human and financial resourcing,

and identify needs relating to standards for NGDA datasets in support of nationwide population of priority geospatial datasets.

In accordance with the GDA definition of NGDA data theme, the NGDA Theme Strategic Plan template will allow theme plans to focus on nationwide population of the core datasets within the theme and allow agencies to document, provide citations to, and report on efforts that facilitate meeting this requirement. NGDA Theme Strategic Plans covering the period from 2025-2027 will be due by the end of FY2024. Once completed, the strategic plans will be published on the GeoPlatform Theme sites.

C. Establish Goals That Support the NSDI Strategic Plan

The NSDI mission is to enable a "national network of geospatial resources that seamlessly integrate location-based information to serve the needs of the Nation and wider global interests." The FGDC and the geospatial community have partnered for decades in building the National Spatial Data Infrastructure. Through this collaboration and modernization of geospatial data resources on the internet, combined with advances in technology and availability of mobile devices, situational awareness has increased. Having geospatial data and information available on demand for a wide variety of applications has become an expectation for most users. The vision of the NSDI Strategic Plan 2021-2024 of a "geo-enabled Nation and world for place-based decision making" is to support efficient resource allocation and provide a platform for partnerships to support high quality data. The FGDC is developing a new NSDI Strategic Plan which is scheduled to be finalized by the end of FY2024. The goals of the Theme Strategic Plans will subsequently be revised based on the new NSDI Strategic Plan.

The NGDA Theme Strategic Plan template described in the "Background" section above will allow agencies to identify actions and accomplishments that align with mission requirements, and support implementation of the NSDI Strategic Plan and its goals and objectives. For the NGDA portfolio, the NSDI Strategic Plan 2021-2024 objectives include efforts to: 1) streamline portfolio management practices and establish standards for NGDA themes and associated datasets, 2) develop common approaches to implement data acquisition and lifecycle management strategies, 3) advance the practice of integrating government and nongovernment data into national datasets, as necessary and 4) ensure that geospatial and other meaningful data can be easily integrated and used by stakeholders and the public.

D. Addressing User Needs

The NGDA Theme Strategic Plan (planned publication at the end of FY 2024) will identify the needs of users related to NGDA datasets within the Theme and provide strategies to meet those needs. Additionally, the GeoPlatform offers open geospatial hosting and services for US federal agencies with geospatial data assets to address the needs of a diverse user community, including government, nongovernment, and public users. Each NGDA Theme has a site within the GeoPlatform that hosts the NGDA datasets. These Theme sites, along with the GeoPlatform, provide access to open geospatial data assets including metadata, services, applications, and tools for an open-source geospatial suite of capabilities. These capabilities are consistent with the 'Findability, Accessibility, Interoperability, and Reuse (FAIR) Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship' as part of meeting user needs. Through ongoing GeoPlatform modernization and FGDC efforts to improve and enhance NGDA metadata and services, users have access to analysis-ready data to meet their geospatial analytical needs.

Appendix A: Survey Picklist

This appendix provides the full set of available choices presented for the Meeting General Responsibilities – USC Sec.2805(b)(2) question.

How is the Lead Covered Agency(ies) participating in ensuring the coordinated management of the Theme? (Select all that apply)

- Agency participated in cross-agency activities related to the development of the Theme Strategic Plan Template
- Theme Executive Champion(s) attend NGDA Theme Community Meetings
- Theme Lead(s) attend NGDA Theme Community Meetings
- Theme Lead(s) participate in GDA Working Group meetings
- Theme Leads(s) review the outcomes from GDA Working Group meetings and provide feedback on approaches for GDA compliance
- Theme Lead(s) coordinate GDA compliance activities with Theme personnel
- Theme Lead(s) coordinate changes to the Portfolio inventory for Steering Committee approval
- Theme Lead(s) update Dataset Managers and other points of contact (e.g., metadata POC)
- Theme Lead(s) coordinate Theme Hub Sites on the GeoPlatform with established points of contact (e.g., Site Maintainers, site editors)
- Theme Lead(s) evaluate standards applicable to the Portfolio inventory
- Theme Lead(s) communicate new and ongoing Portfolio Management activities and priorities with Dataset Managers in the Theme
- Steering Committee members coordinate with the Theme
- No participation in ensuring coordinated management of the Theme
- Other [Textbox provided]

Appendix B: Brief Summary

The following summary provides details on accomplishments the Soils Theme made in FY2023 in meeting the GDA requirements under USC 43 Sections 2805(b)(3)(A)-(D).

The status of the Soils Theme Geospatial Data Standards is unchanged. Progress needs to be made in this area. The Theme only has one approved FGDC standard, which applies to the NGDAs SSURGO, gSSURGO, and STATSGO2. This standard was published in 1997, and while it is still largely applicable, it needs updating. The other Soil Theme NGDA dataset standards predate the GDA and need to be converted to the FGDC format. Until recently, the intent of this responsibility has been misunderstood by the Theme. While progress has been made on other Soil Survey Standards, those that specify the NGDAs have not.

This past year, the Soils Theme continued to make progress on the Nationwide population of the Theme. In particular, progress was made in expanding and updating the coverage of SSURGO. Several applications were created, updated, and expanded to enhance the usability of SSURGO and the NCSS-SCD. In addition, a proposal to delist gSSURGO and merge it with SSURGO was circulated. The comments received were positive, and thus, the recommendation will be forwarded to the National Leader of Soil Survey Standards.

This past year, the Soils Theme participated in the FGDC Strategic Plan Discussions and intends to finalize a Strategic Plan by the September 3, 2024, deadline.

Usage of SSURGO's existing applications, such as WSS and SDA, continued to see an increase since the previous year. The ranking of the most popular WSS reports was largely unchanged.

Endnotes

¹ U.S. Code, Title 43 – Public Lands, Chapter 46: GEOSPATIAL DATA

https://www.fgdc.gov/gda/43-usc-ch-46-geospatial-data-geospatial-data-act.pdf

² FGDC GDA Information

https://fgdc.gov/gda

³ NSDI Strategic Plan

https://www.fgdc.gov/nsdi-plan

⁴ GeoPlatform

https://www.geoplatform.gov/

⁵ NGDA Portfolio Community Site

https://ngda-portfolio-geoplatform.hub.arcgis.com/

⁶ OMB A-16 Supplemental Guidance Roles and Responsibilities

https://fgdc.gov/policyandplanning/a-16/key-roles-and-responsibilities-a16-supplemental.pdf

⁷ NGDA Theme Contacts

https://ngda-portfolio-community-geoplatform.hub.arcgis.com/pages/contacts

⁸ NGDA Theme Hub Sites

https://ngda-portfolio-community-geoplatform.hub.arcgis.com/pages/ngda-themes

⁹ FAIR Principles

https://www.go-fair.org/fair-principles/